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Key figures

Figures in NOK 1,000

Group 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Operating revenue  1,199,278  1,293,456  1,311,874  1,325,408 1,271,925 

Operating profit (loss)  (38,581) (14,825)  30,582  27,190 13,015 

Profit (loss) before tax  (56,183)  (9,300)  23,868  21,746 6,524 

Profit (loss) for the year  (50,822)  (13,146)  10,831  16,217 5,944 

Net operating margin (%) (3.2%) (1.1%) 2.3% 2.1% 1.0%

Net profit margin (%) (4.2%) (1.0%) 0.8% 1.2% 0.5%

Profit ratio (%) (4.6%) (0.6%) 2.1% 2.2% 0.8%

Total assets  775,179  844,432  695,437  677,586  627,073 

Investments  61,379 181,612  47,634 55,457  59,171 

Equity ratio (%) 7.50% 13.10% 18.1% 16.5% 17.9%

Return on total assets (%) (6.8%) (0.9%) 3.7% 3.6% 1.5%

Liquidity ratio 0.64 0.68  0.70  0.71 0.72

AVERAGE NUMBER

of employees 680 729 744 762 767

Average FTEs 674 731 738 750 731

Net operating margin (%) Operating profit (loss) divided by operating revenues
Net profit margin (%) Profit (loss) for the year divided by operating revenues
Profit ratio (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by operating revenues

Equity ratio (%) Equity divided by total capital
Return on total assets (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by average total assets

Liquidity ratio Current assets divided by current liabilities
Employees and FTE Full-time employees

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

(38,581)

 

TURNOVER

1,199,278 


NOK
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From the CEO

4

In 2019, managers and employees throughout the group made a  
major effort to ensure that we enter 2020 as a profitable corporation.  
Income from digital products rose over the course of the year. If we 
exclude extraordinary items related to restructuring and downsizing 
last year, we exited 2019 with profitable underlying operations. 

Hege Yli Melhus Ask
CEO

Nonetheless, last year was challenging.  
Lower demand for paper-based products 
and falling ad revenue within traditional 
media made it necessary to cut costs and 
staffing in several of the businesses. In ad-
dition, we implemented reorganisations 
and work process modifications in order to 
adapt NHST Media Group to a market envi-
ronment characterised by significant, rapid 
change. These initiatives had the intended 
effect. However, the negative impact of the 
coronavirus and drop in oil prices made it 
necessary to implement additional measu-
res. For this reason, in March and April 
2020, the Board approved further cost re-
ductions in excess of NOK 100 million. The 
group’s publications experienced record-
high circulation during the first quarter,  
but advertising and conference revenue 
both declined considerably in Norway as 
well as globally.

NHST Media Group seeks to provide rea-
ders with relevant, interesting and challen-
ging journalism that sets the agenda in the 
communities and markets that we serve. 
We aim to be an attractive partner for  
advertisers, brand owners and other stake-
holders who depend on editorial and social 
media to create positive publicity and pro-
mote their message. Our Software-as-a-Ser-
vice technology companies must ensure 
that our products enable customers to 
spread their message and measure the  
effectiveness of their traditional and social 
media campaigns using the monitoring  
services that we offer. 

To succeed, we need to be in the forefront 
of market trends. The cost reductions in 
2019 provided us with improved ability to 
invest in technology and digitalisation as 
well as skill and product development.  
Increased usage of data and analysis thanks 
to a shared analytical environment for all 
our media divisions enabled us to better  
anticipate changed expectations and needs 
on the part of our readers, customers and 
users. We intend to continue to invest in 
human resources, technology and products 
and services as well as data analyses that 
provide insight into our business. Going 
forward, our situation will be affected by 
the extent and duration of the coronavirus 
outbreak and its impact on business and  
local communities in the markets in which 
we compete.

Notwithstanding the pandemic, competition 
continues to be tougher both for our  
publications and other services. Within the  
Norwegian market, several new competi-
tors have launched digital platforms for  
business journalism. The conversion to  
digital distribution is a high priority and 
was an important motivational factor  
behind the reorganisation of Dagens  
Næringsliv in autumn 2019.  

Continued cost efficiency throughout the 
Group is a precondition for the continued 
development of both Norwegian and Global 
publications, and for day-to-day improve-
ment of the services we offer in PR  
distribution and media monitoring.

In 2020 we will conclude on a comprehen-
sive strategic process that has involved  
obtaining input from throughout the entire 
organi sation, studying the development of 
the marketplace as well as consumer trends 
and assessing future income opportunities 
for each individual part of NHST Media 
Group. 

I can’t promise that the change process is 
finished. On the contrary, change has  
become a necessity in the media industry, 
as in most other industries. Unforeseen 
events, of which the corona virus pandemic 
is a grave example, can provide us with 
new challenges and opportunities. NHST 
Media Group is now better equipped to 
handle such situations than it was just a 
year ago. Together, we’ll make sure that 
we’re also well equipped for the future.
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To succeed, we need to be in the fore-

front of market trends. The cost  

reductions in 2019 provided us with 

improved ability to invest in techno-

logy and digitalisation as well as skill 

and product development.
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Deep within the Amazon Basin, cattle barons burn down 

enormous swathes of rainforest to clear land for cattle 

ranching. The Amazon forest fires were one of 2019’s greatest 

natural disasters. Illegal logging, deforestation and 

agricultural burning contribute to global warming. 

Dagens Næringsliv 24/08/2019 

Photo: Andre Liohn
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NHST at  
a glance



OPERATING RESULT

NOK 21 
Million

Kr

OPERATING REVENUE

NOK 645
Million



Norwegian 
publications

NUMBER OF FTES

207 

Global 
publications

SaaS

OPERATING RESULT

NOK 8 
Million

Kr

OPERATING REVENUE

NOK 302
Million



NUMBER OF FTES

175 

OPERATING RESULT

NOK 5
Million

Kr

OPERATING REVENUE

NOK 263
Million



NUMBER OF FTES

199 

9
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This business area includes Norway’s largest business newspaper, 
Dagens Næringsliv (DN), along with the weekend magazines D2 
and Magasinet as well as Morgenbladet. Each of the publications 
publish both digital and paper editions.

Operations and net income 
The market environment was challenging 
in 2019. In particular, revenue derived from 
paper products declined from the prior 
year’s level. 

On the other hand, in 2019 DN continued 
to experience robust digital subscription 
revenue growth. Nonetheless, this growth 
was unable to completely offset the decline 
in advertising and newsstand revenues. 
Overall operating revenue was therefore 
lower than in 2018.

Morgenbladet grew its operating revenue 
in 2019 thanks to an increase in press sub-
sidies. Subscription revenue was in line 
with the prior year while advertising and 
newsstand revenues were somewhat lower.

Both Morgenbladet and Dagens Næringsliv 
underwent a downsizing in autumn 2019. 
As part of this initiative, voluntary seve-
rance packages were offered to all employees. 
The offer was accepted by 25 DN and 8 
Morgenbladet employees. Costs related to 
the severance packages had a negative 
impact the financial result in 2019. 
However, the downsizing will ensure that 
in 2020 the companies obtain a cost 
structure that is better adapted to existing 
market conditions.

Operating profit/(loss) for the business unit 
after restructuring costs declined to NOK 
21 million.

Once again, in 2019 Dagens Næringsliv 
won the prestigious SKUP award. This 
coveted prize was awarded to the team 
responsible for coverage of the controversy 
around the Tidal streaming service.

Anna B. Jenssen resigned from her position 
as Morgenbladet’s CEO/Managing Editor in 
autumn 2019. Community Editor Sun 
Heidi Sæbø was appointed to the position 
on an interim basis. In January 2020, Ms 
Sæbø was appointed on a permanent basis 
as the new CEO/Managing Editor.

Products and digitalisation
In 2019, Dagens Næringsliv underwent a 
significant organizational restructuring. 
This has facilitated a leaner, more respon-
sive organisation oriented around key 
customer segments. 

The combination of new technology and a 
new organisation allows us to more easily 
offer relevant content to defined target 
groups, both editorially and commercially. 
The number of digital subscribers grew 
considerably in 2019. 

In addition, digital advertising revenue  
showed a positive growth trend. We expect 
to see continued growth in products such 
as video ads and other new digital formats. 

Looking ahead to 2020
Dagens Næringsliv and Morgenbladet both 
enter 2020 with a lower cost level and a 
more digitally-oriented organisation than a 
year ago. Developing digital products and 
facilitating strong product development 
and growth within this area continues to  
be a key part of our strategy. At the same 
time, we intend to defend our market share 
in paper-based products, which are still 
important sources of income for the publi-
cations.

In 2020, we plan to continue to develop the 
organisational initiatives from 2019 and 
continue to develop high quality products 
for the target groups we have identified.

In the winter of 2020 coronavirus is expec-
ted to have a negative impact on the adver-
tising market, but exactly how long the 
effects will persist remains uncertain.

Norwegian Publications
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Global Publications

Operations and net income 
Total operating revenue in the Global Publi-
cations segment consisted of 62% subscrip-
tion revenue, 29% ad revenue and 9% 
other income, mainly from events. 

TradeWinds made up around 40% of the 
revenue while energy and seafood accoun-
ted for approximately 30% each. Digital 
revenue accounted for 36% (30%) of total 
revenue while print accounted for 55% 
(62%).

Both operating revenue and operating pro-
fit/(loss) declined in 2019, following a year 
characterised by a significant Group-wide 
restructuring and a challenging advertising 
market for the energy and seafood publica-
tions. 

TradeWinds was the most important con-
tributor to profitability, with an operating 
margin of 14%. Fiskeribladet also made a 
positive contribution while other business 
units had a negative contribution to results. 

The product portfolio is undergoing a signi-
ficant digitalisation process. Total digital ad 
revenue increased 8% while pure digital 
subscription products grew 27% in both 
volume and revenue.

Products and digitalisation 
The most important investments in 2019 
were related to digital distribution plat-
forms. Along with Dagens Næringsliv, over 
the course of the year, Europower and all 
the English-language publications were 
transferred to a common digital platform. 
This will ensure future operational syner-
gies across all NHST media products as 
well as robust and flexible media products 
designed with the future in mind.

Investment was also made in upgrading 
analytical systems and customer payment 
solutions (also on the same platform as 

Dagens Næringsliv). This ensures that the 
global publications can retrieve informa-
tion on products and trends from a new, 
shared NHST analytics department.

In 2019 an extensive project was also 
implemented to coordinate subscription 
sales and analysis across all English-language 
publications. 

The subscription market 
The publications are established in global 
markets with potential for growth and  
provide specialised information services 
and journalism to customer groups that 
historically have been willing to pay for 
value received. All the publications have 
been based on both subscription and  
advertising revenues. During this challen-
ging advertising market in 2019, we have 
worked diligently to promote subscription 
sales.  

All the paper-based publications are experi-
encing significant growth in the number of 
digital subscribers. Growth in digital sub-
scription revenue exceeded the decline in 
paper-based combination subscriptions, 
contributing toward the positive subscrip-
tion revenue growth we experienced in 
2019. 

The advertising market 
In 2019, TradeWinds delivered advertising 
revenue that was on par with 2018 revenue. 
This performance was due to a planned 
transition to digital advertising products, 
supported by content marketing and the 
introduction of new advertising products. 

Other publications have experienced a  
challenging transition to digital advertising 
formats but saw a positive uptick toward 
the end of 2019, supported by strong 
growth in digital product consumption. 

Events
In 2019, a shared Events department  
was established for all publications at 
NHST Global Publications. TradeWinds has 
played an important role in creating 
meeting places for the shipping industry 
and shows that a news publication can in 
fact be a gathering point for the major  
stakeholders in the shipping industry.  
TradeWinds continued to deliver satisfying 
results from Events in 2019, and 2020 will 
be a crucial year for establishing similar 
commercially successful arenas within the 
seafood and energy sectors. 

Looking ahead to 2020
Over the course of the year, NHST Global 
Publications developed its organisation  
and platforms to facilitate interdisciplinary 
work across its manufacturing and product 
units going forward in 2020. Thanks to  
shared subscription, marketing and events 
departments, we can strategically work 
across some of the largest industries in the 
world - energy, seafood and shipping - to 
capture a larger share of the user market. 

The vision of NHST Global Publications is 
‘Knowledge for better business’. The main 
objective is to increase digital subscription 
and advertising revenues through outstan-
ding journalism and analysis. We will  
continue to improve the meeting places  
for various industries by introducing new 
events and ensuring that our editorial 
brands continue to be the focal points of 
these industries.

The Global Publications segment includes the international industry 
publications TradeWinds, Upstream, Intrafish and Recharge as well 
as the Norwegian publications Fiskeribladet and Europower.
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SaaS

Mynewsdesk 
Mynewsdesk offers a digital PR and com-
munications platform to customers prima-
rily based in Europe. Sweden is the largest 
individual market, accounting for approxi-
mately 70% of the operating revenue, follo-
wed by Norway, Denmark and the DACH 
countries (Germany, Austria and Switzer-
land). All in all, Mynewsdesk has around 
4500 customers.

Throughout 2019, the nordic market for  
PR services underwent consolidation, with 
several companies entering into acquisi-
tions, mergers or strategic alliances, and  
the level of competition intensified.

Mynewsdesk responded to this trend in  
the marketplace by continuing to focus on 
improving its product and service offering 
to customers. In addition to the main PR 
distribution product, the company offers 
media monitoring.

In addition, the organisation was signifi-
cantly streamlined through a comprehen-
sive profitability initiative launched  
in the first quarter of 2019. As part of this 
initiative, the headcount at Mynewsdesk 
was reduced from 215 as of 4Q 2018 to 143 
as of the end of 2019. 

Excluding costs related to restructuring, the 
underlying cost structure was reduced by 
around SEK 50 million on an annual basis. 
This led to a substantial improvement in the 
company’s profitability from 2018 to 2019.

Louise Barnekow was appointed as Interim 
CEO of Mynewsdesk in January 2019. She 
was appointed on a permanent basis in 
September 2019.

Mention
Mention’s product suite covers web- and 
social media monitoring as well as publish-
ing on social media.

In 2019, revenue was fairly flat for Mention 
compared to the prior year. Over the course 
of the year, the company opened up new 
distribution channels throughout Scandina-
via and the DACH region (through 
Mynewsdesk) and made substantial invest-
ments into the development of a solution 
for the global market.

Mention has over 3000 paying customers 
from all over the world, but primarily from 
Europe and North America. The solution is 
targeted at SMB customers and is sold via 
several different channels: a dedicated sales 
force, a sales partner (Mynewsdesk) and 
online as a self-service solution. 

Profitability has fallen at Mention compa-
red to prior years due to increased invest-
ment in sales and marketing, customer care 
and product development. 

Mention’s product is designed for a global 
market, requiring ongoing development to 
keep pace with customer expectations and 
competitive solutions. In 2019, the product 
was upgraded to allow users to publish  
content on and respond to social media 
activity. This added functionality was well 
received but the product needs to be upda-
ted in 2020 to reach its full potential with 
the customer base.

An important area of focus in 2019 for the 
product development team was to moder-
nise the solution’s underlying architecture.

The department has also developed skills 
and added more capacity in Data Science, 
which will be a key area of investment 
going forward.

The market for traditional and social media 
monitoring is maturing rapidly, and Men-
tion must continue to invest to maintain its 
market share. The company is doing this by 
expanding its product suite while focusing 
its market strategy on mid-sized customers, 
and sees an opportunity to establish a lead-
ing position in the market. 

Mention will continue to require invest-
ments in technology, sales and marketing 
to maximize its potential. In 2020, however, 
the investment level will be adapted to 
reflect the changed market situation resul-
ting from the Covid-19 pandemic, and a 
cost reduction program., also involving 
manning reductions, has been launched. 

Mention is focusing on improving profita-
bility and developing a more scalable  
business model. The company will during 
2020 continue to improve its product  
offering, its marketing efforts and the  
user experience and reduce customer 
churn.

Jean-Philippe Baert was appointed as 
Mention’s CEO in November 2019.

The SaaS segment consists of two separate companies, Mynewsdesk 
AB, headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden, and Mention Solutions 
SAS, headquartered in Paris, France. These two businesses have their 
own separate brands, products and organisations but collaborate in 
market analysis, product development and sales.
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In majestic solitude, Finance Minister Siv Jensen  

arrives in the parliamentary chambers just before  

presenting the 2020 national budget to the Norwegian 

Parliament. It would turn out to be the Progress Party 

(Frp) leader’s final presentation of the national budget 

as the party later withdrew from government. 

Dagens Næringsliv 26/09/2019 

Photo: Per Ståle Bugjerde
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2019 Board of Directors 
report
The NHST Media Group has throughout 2019 made significant  
investments in the development of competencies and technology to 
strengthen the focus on digital products  and provide the foundation 
for growth in revenues and increased competitiveness. The work to 
increase subscription revenues and make the Group less exposed to 
changes  in the advertising market, has continued. Facing a challen-
ging market characterized by changes in demand patterns and  
intensified competition, the Group has also launched a number of  
initiatives to improve profitability. The Group sees reduced demand 
for paper based products and shrinking advertising revenues for  
traditional media. Manning reductions have been implemented in  
several of the business areas to adapt costs to a lower revenue level.

The measures have resulted in increased revenues from digital  
products, in particular from digital subscriptions, and a positive  
underlying trend in Group profitability through the year.

Our business
NHST Media Group is a Norwegian Group that owns and operates 
business-oriented Norwegian and international publications, a digi-
tal PR and communications platform and media monitoring services. 
The company’s headquarters are located in Oslo, Norway. The busi-
ness is operated through subsidiaries in Norway and abroad.

NHST Media Group’s shares are quoted on the NOTC, which is a 
marketplace for unlisted Norwegian stocks. Transfer of the shares 
is unrestricted. However, in accordance with the company’s  
Articles of Association, the Board of Directors must approve any 
share transfers.

NHST Media Group has structured its business into three seg-
ments: Norwegian Publications, Global Publications and Software-
as-a-Service (SaaS).

Norwegian Publications includes the newspapers Dagens Næring-
sliv and Morgenbladet.

Global Publications includes the international industry publica-
tions TradeWinds, Upstream, Intrafish.com and Recharge as well 
as the Norwegian publications Fiskeribladet, Intrafish.no, Tekfisk 
and Europower.

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) includes the companies Mynewsdesk 
and Mention. Mynewsdesk, headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden, 
offers customers a digital PR and communications platform with 
associated services. Mention offers media monitoring services, 
primarily for social media. Mention’s headquarters are located in 
Paris, France.

Performance of NHST Media Group in 2019
2019 was characterised by significant restructurings throughout 
NHST Media Group. The Group worked in a structured manner in 
order to respond to the major shift taking place in the market. The 
demand for news continues to shift toward digital distribution, 
and traditional paper-based news consumption has been falling 
year by year. The level of competition in business journalism is 
rising in Norway, and several competitors have recently announced 
planned investments within this market segment. The advertis-
ing market, which traditionally has been an important source of 
revenue for printed media, is characterised by competition from 
international players with a strong position in digitally distributed 
advertising.

To meet this challenge, several of NHST Media Group’s busi-
nesses implemented comprehensive structural changes in 2019. 
Dagens Næringsliv, Morgenbladet, NHST Global Publications and 
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Mynewsdesk all carried out workforce reductions and cost cutting 
measures throughout the year. The cost reductions were necessary 
in order to ensure that the business units have adequate financial 
strength for product development and investment in human  
resources and new technology.

In 2019, the Group stepped up its investment in technology by 
merging its IT development groups and creating a new, centralised 
data analysis group for the media businesses. This should intribute 
to better, more relevant user experiences as well as more effective 
internal manufacturing and distribution processes.

The financial results for 2019 were characterised by both a chal-
lenging underlying market environment and considerable one-off 
restructuring costs. Nevertheless, the Board of Directors observes 
that the Group’s underlying profitability compared to the prior 
years showed improvement towards the end of the year and that 
the measures implemented to improve the Group’s financial 
situation have yielded results.

Financial review

Figures in parentheses are from 2018

Going concern assumption and post closing events
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of the going concern principle. In 2019, a number of initiatives 
were implemented to reduce the Group’s cost base and improve 
results, and the Board expects that these measures will help  
improve the Group’s competitiveness throughout 2020. It is the 
opinion of the Board of Directors that the annual accounts provide 
a true and fair view of NHST Media Group's assets and liabilities, 
financial position and results as of year end 2019.

Through the first quarter 2020 the global corona pandemic and the 
drop in oil prices have led to a negative development and consider-
able uncertainty regarding the Group`s revenues going forward, 
especially related to advertising and conferences. The Group has 
therefore launched further significant cost reductions to secure the 
financial foundation for operations through 2020. This program  
includes reductions in personnel costs through hiring freeze, leave 
of absence and salary reductions, as well as reductions in pur-
chased services and other costs. In the French subsidiary  
Mention, there will be permanent manning reductions. The  
program comprises cost reductions totaling more than NOK 100 
million for the Group for 2020, effective from the second quarter.

Changed market outlook for 2020 and 2021 for Mention, result-
ing from the Covid -19 situation, cause an impairment of goodwill 
which was capitalized on the acquisition of Mention in 2018, in the 
amount of NOK 80,6 million in the first quarter 2020. The Group 
is nevertheless confident about the long term competitiveness and 
potential for growth and profitability for Mention.
Although the loss for the first quarter creates a negative book equity 
for the Group, the Board is of the opinion that the going concern 
assumption is correct. The Board is of the opinion that the fair 
value of the Group`s assets clearly exceeds the liabilities.

Profit and loss statement (P&L)
NHST Media Group had revenue of NOK 1,199.3 million in 2019 
(1,293.5 million). Adjusted for the effect of the sale of Nautisk For-
lag and the acquisition of Mention Solutions S.A.S., both of which 
took place in autumn 2018, operating revenue for the year fell by 
3.1 per cent. The decline was primarily due to lower advertising 

REVENUE PER  
CATEGORY

REVENUE PER TYPE

REVENUE PER  
BUSINESS AREA
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revenue in the Norwegian Publications and Global Publications 
segments.

The Group’s operating expenses fell by 5.4 per cent in relation 
to 2018. Adjusted for the effect of the sale of Nautisk Forlag and 
the acquisition of Mention Solutions, along with the effect of 
non-recurring restructuring charges, operating expenses for the 
year declined by 4.4 per cent. The reduction was primarily due to 
reduced staffing levels in several of the Group’s largest business 
units, along with lower printing and distribution expenses for 
printed news media.

The Group’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tisation (EBITDA) were NOK 28.7 million (44.5 million). The EBITDA 
figure for 2019 includes non-recurring charges for reorganisation 
and restructuring in the amount of NOK 42.7 million (5.1 million). 
Excluding non-recurring charges, the Group’s EBITDA improved 
by NOK 21.8 million compared to 2018.

The Group’s earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) were NOK 
-38.6 million in 2019 (-14.8 million). The EBIT figure includes 
depreciation and amortization of NOK 67.2 million (59.3 million), 
of which amortisation of goodwill amounted to NOK 21.6 million 
(13.1 million). The increase in depreciation and amortization was 
due to amortisation of intangible assets and goodwill related to the 
acquisition of Mention Solutions. The Group’s earnings before tax 
(EBT) amounted to NOK -56.1 million (-9.3 million), and earnings 
per share were NOK -40.9 (-10.6).

Cash flow
NHST Media Group had cash flow from operating activities of 
NOK 15.1 million in 2019 (76.0 million). In addition to the profit/
(loss) for the year, cash flow from operations was primarily  
affected by the changes in accounts receivable and pre-paid  
subscriptions.

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to NOK 61.4 million 
in 2019 (181.6 million). The Group’s investments in Property, Plant 
& Equipment (PP&E) in 2019 was NOK 40.3 million (48.7 million). 
The investments in PP&E were primarily related to new product 
development, customer-focused IT-based solutions and IT solutions 
to improve and streamline internal work processes.

Cash flow from financing activities was NOK 0 in 2019 compared 
to a positive cash flow of 116.1 million the prior year. In the first 
quarter of 2019, the Group signed a new loan agreement that runs 
until year end 2021, for a revolving credit line with a limit of NOK 
250 million. As of 31 December 2019, NOK 170 million had been 
drawn on the credit line, and the Group had a total cash and cash 
equivalents balance of NOK 183.1 million (229.4 million) and net 
financial assets of NOK 13.1 million (52.2 million). 

Group balance sheet
At the end of 2019, the Group had total assets of NOK 775.2 mil- 
lion (844.4 million). Intangible assets amounted to NOK 287.3 million 
(311.0 million). The latter amount includes capitalised development 
costs and goodwill related to the acquisition of businesses. Capitalised 
development costs and goodwill are amortised according to a pre-de-
termined schedule, and any remaining balances are assessed periodi-
cally to ensure that book values are reasonable and prudent. 

As of 31 December 2019, total shareholders equity amounted to 
NOK 57.8 million, compared to NOK 110.8 million at the end of 
2018. The equity ratio was 7.5 per cent, compared to 13.1 per cent 
as of 31 December 2018.

Parent company and allocation of the year’s 
profit/(loss)
The parent company, NHST Media Group AS, is primarily engaged 
in the sale of administrative and developmental services to the sub-
sidiaries. The parent company had operating revenue of NOK 85.9 
million in 2019 (87.7 million) and an operating loss of NOK 34.4 
million (35.6 million) while net income from financial items was a 
positive NOK 22.6 million (28.6 million) 

Profit/(loss) for the year was NOK -2.1 million (-7.7 million). The 
Board proposes that no dividends will be distributed for 2019. It is  
proposed that NHST Media Group AS’s net loss for the year will  
be covered as follows:

- Allocated for dividends:  NOK 0
- Transferred from retained equity:  NOK 2,103,936

Operations
Norwegian Publications segment 2019 2018
Operating revenue 644.1 667.0

EBITDA 28.7 44.7

The Norwegian Publications segment includes Dagens Næringsliv 
and Morgenbladet. The segment accounted for total operating 
revenue of NOK 644.1 million (667.0 million) and EBITDA of NOK 
28.7 million (44.7 million). The EBITDA figure for the segment in 
2019 includes a non-recurring restructuring charge in the amount 
of NOK 25.5 million.

User revenues for 2019 declined slightly compared to the prior 
year. The segment experienced substantial revenue growth from 
digital subscriptions but paper-based subscription and newsstand 
sales both declined.

Advertising revenue for the year fell by around 13 per cent com-
pared to the prior year. In particular, traditional newspaper adver-
tisements showed a decline but digital advertising revenue also 
came in somewhat lower than the prior year.

In 2019, Dagens Næringsliv worked to reinforce its position as the 
leading business newspaper in Norway, undergoing comprehen-
sive organisational changes over the course of the year. The objec-
tive of these changes was to strengthen the focus on both journal-
ism and products aimed at select target groups. At the same time,  
a sudden drop in advertising revenue over the second and third 
quarters necessitated the implementation of a cost reduction initia-
tive. After discussions with employee trade unions, in September 
voluntary severance packages were offered to all employees. In  
all, twenty-five employees accepted the offer and subsequently re-
signed from their positions during the fourth quarter. Towards the 
end of the year, it was decided to invest in new skills for the edito-
rial and commercial teams and 9 new positions were announced. 
The process to fill these started around the turn of the year.

Due to weakening profitability trends at Morgenbladet, it was also 
decided to implement cost reductions there, offering severance 
packages to all employees. In all, eight of the newspaper’s 30 em-
ployees accepted the offer and resigned during the fourth quarter. 
In October, Morgenbladet’s CEO/Managing Editor chose to resign 
from her position. Her successor was appointed in January 2020.

Global Publications segment 2019 2018
Operating revenue 301.1 304.2

EBITDA 11.2 17.3
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The Global Publications segment includes the international indus-
try publications TradeWinds, Upstream, Intrafish.com and Re-
charge as well as the Norwegian niche publications Fiskeribladet, 
Intrafish.no, Tekfisk and Europower. 

The segment had revenue of NOK 301.1 million in 2019 (304.2 mil-
lion) and EBITDA of NOK 11.2 million (17.3 million).

The segment’s publications all experienced substantial growth in 
digital subscription revenue in 2019. This growth more than offset 
the decline in paper-based subscription revenue.
TradeWinds made progress in 2019, confirming its position as one 
of the world’s leading shipping newspapers with increased sub-
scription revenue and stable advertising revenue.

The oil and gas publication Upstream experienced rising subscrip-
tion revenue but significantly lower advertising revenue. Both the 
editorial and commercial management teams were strengthened 
throughout the year, and toward the end of 2019, Upstream was en-
joying substantial growth in digital subscription revenue. Recharge 
and Intrafish.com also turned in disappointing performances in 
2019 when it came to advertising revenue. However, after a shift in 
editorial strategy, both these publications experienced a significant 
increase in traffic to their online editions over the last two quarters.

In June 2019, NHST Media Group acquired the remaining shares 
(altogether 33.4 per cent) in Fiskeribladet AS from the Norwegian 
Fishermen’s Sales Organization, and Fiskeribladet is therefore now 
a wholly owned subsidiary. Fiskeribladet delivered stable results in 
2019 as falling advertising revenue was offset by lower operating 
expenses. A restructuring of the Norwegian seafood publications 
was implemented in the fourth quarter when Fiskeribladet, Intraf-
ish.no and Tekfisk were combined into one merged operating entity 
with common management under the name NHST Sjømat Norge.

SaaS segment 2019 2018
Operating revenue 263.4 238.6

EBITDA 23.3 11.4

The Software-as-a-Service segment (SaaS) consists of Mynewsdesk 
and Mention Solutions S.A.S. Mynewsdesk offers a PR and com-
munications platform, along with associated services, while  
Mention Solutions offers media monitoring services, primarily  
focused on social media monitoring and management. Mynews-
desk is headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden while Mention’s 
headquarters are located in Paris, France.

The segment accounted for operating revenue of NOK 263.4 million 
(238.6 million) and EBITDA of NOK 23.3 million (11.4 million).

Mynewsdesk underwent a larger-scale restructuring in 2019. Sales 
activities were concentrated around the chosen core markets of Scan-
dinavia and the DACH countries (Germany, Austria and Switzerland). 
The Swedish market accounts for approximately 70 per cent of the 
revenue. The company’s headcount was reduced from 215 at the 
beginning of 2019 to 143 as of 31 December 2019. This profitability 
initiative helped Mynewsdesk turn a loss in 2018 around to a profit 
in 2019 and was the single most important factor accounting for the 
segment’s improved profitability.

In August 2018, the Group (via its Mynewsdesk subsidiary) acquired 
85 per cent of the shares of Mention, and Mention’s results have there-
fore been consolidated in the Group’s accounts as of the fourth quarter 
of 2018. The Group acquired an additional 9.7 per cent of Mention 
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in October 2019. With respect to the remaining approx. 5 per cent, a 
mutual call and put option gives Mynewsdesk the right and obligation 
to acquire these shares in 2021. Throughout 2019, Mention invested 
in product and market development and on building its organisation. 
The financial results for this business are typical of a company in  
the development phase. A new CEO for Mention was appointed in 
November 2019.

Research and development
The Group’s development activities are concentrated around three 
main areas: 
-  Development and implementation of IT solutions to streamline 
the production and distribution of news material and advertising

-  Product development, particularly in the areas of PR distribution, 
media monitoring and bundled services

-  Data analysis focused on the news item and PR consumption, 
with the goal of developing products that are better adapted to 
current and future customer needs.

The development work is being done partly by internal staff and 
partly by contracted resources. Total capitalised development costs 
amounted to NOK 35.8 million in 2019. (2018: NOK 40,5 million 
excluding the effect of the investment in Mention).

Human resources and equal opportunity
At the end of 2019, NHST Media Group had 619 employees in all, 
compared to 731 at the end of 2018. 327 of these were employed 
by the Group’s Norwegian business units while 292 were employed 
outside of Norway. The distribution of employees by country was 
as follows:

Country Employees as of 31/12/2019
Norway 327

Sweden 106

United Kingdom 56

France 37

Others 93

As of year’s end, 43 per cent of all employees were women.

At the beginning of 2019, the Group drafted an action plan to 
improve diversity and inclusion. The goal was to have at least 40 
per cent representation of each gender in all management groups 
and internal boards by 2021. This goal was reached in 2019 with 
respect to Group management. At year’s end, three of the seven 
members of the Group’s management team were women. The goal 
was also met for the majority of management groups on the level 
immediately below Group management. 

Recruitment efforts are a key initiative for ensuring gender bal-
ance and diversity. Improving the gender balance is an important 
priority for all our recruitment processes, especially when it comes 
to management positions. Guidelines for ensuring diversity in 
recruitment processes were drafted in 2019. 

The action plan for diversity also includes a systematic approach to 
talent development and succession planning.

Periodic surveys were carried out to evaluate the workplace en-
vironment in the Group’s business units. Throughout 2019, the 
workplace environment was affected by the significant change 
processes taking place in several of the Group’s business units. 
During these processes, the preservation of a good workplace en-
vironment was emphasized by introducing various initiatives to 
promote leadership development and providing thorough informa-
tion to employees on a regular basis. In 2019, sick leave among 
the Group’s Norwegian employees was 2.7 per cent, of which 1.7% 

consisted of long-term sick leave, compared with sick leave of 3.6 
per cent in 2018.
No accidents involving bodily injury occurred in any of the 
Group’s businesses in 2019.

In 2019, several leadership development initiatives were carried 
out. Dagens Næringsliv wrapped up a sizeable leadership devel-
opment initiative, and support and skill development in change 
management was offered to managers who have been involved in 
change processes. These initiatives will be continued in 2020.

Work has begun on both a common approach to structured talent 
development and succession planning across the Group.

In 2019, the Group’s HR function was strengthened by the hiring 
of a Group Director for Organisation and Communications.

Community responsibility and the environment
NHST Media Group places a high priority on community respon-
sibility and environmental initiatives. The Group began working 
on developing guidelines for community responsibility and ethics 
based on business and organisational considerations, drafting a 
policy document that will apply to the entire Group: the NHST 
Media Group Code of Conduct. This document will be completed 
during the first six months of 2020 and will summarise the com-
pany’s guidelines and expectations with respect to such topics as 
equal opportunity initiatives, ethics in relation to customers and 
business partners and anti-corruption policies.

Safeguarding privacy is of key importance to a media company.  
In 2018, the Group adopted rules and procedures to ensure compli-
ance with the EU’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), 
and throughout 2019, the Company updated and strengthened its 
GDPR compliance efforts. Periodic audits are conducted on the 
compliance of all business units, and the Group’s management 
groups prioritise initiatives dealing with compliance with GDPR 
requirements and follow-up on any potential non-conformities.

NHST Media Group’s business activities do not significantly  
pollute the external environment.

Paper printing and distribution result in indirect CO2 emissions, 
primarily related to the production of newsprint. The Group is 
actively working to reduce paper consumption by using lighter-
weight paper and reducing the number of pages in its newspapers. 
The reduced circulation of traditional printed newspaper editions 
has also had a significant effect. Dagens Næringsliv has roughly 
halved its consumption of newsprint over the period from 2014 to 
2019; in 2019, approximately 2600 tonnes were consumed. 

All paper suppliers to NHST possess a documented environmental 
certification. The Group is also constantly working on optimising 
its newspaper distribution by identifying the best possible combi-
nations of printing and distribution solutions for individual geo-
graphic markets. Decentralised printing makes a material differ-
ence in reducing the environmental impact linked to distribution.

Corporate governance and Group management
NHST Media Group’s shares are traded on the NOTC, which is a 
marketplace for unlisted stocks owned by the Oslo Børs stock  
exchange. The Group aims to comply with the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for corporate governance and management published by 
The Norwegian Corporate Governance Board (NUES). 

For further details, please refer to the dedicated chapter of the  
Annual Report. Several key issues are briefly commented on below.
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The company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) is open to all 
shareholders, who may participate either in person or by proxy. 
There is only a single share class, and each share entitles the  
shareholder to one vote at the AGM. 

Transfer of the company’s shares is unrestricted although the 
Board may prohibit the transfer of shares subject to reasonable 
grounds. The right to withhold consent to any acquisition of shares 
is based on the need for editorial and commercial independence.

NHST Media Group’s Board of Directors held 11 meetings in 2019 
and concentrated in particular on following up on the business 
unit restructurings and developing the Group’s business strategy 
going forward.

The Board periodically receives reports on the company’s financial 
condition on both a Group and individual company level. The 
corporate strategy and strategic plans are broadly reviewed at an 
extended board meeting each year. 

In addition, the Board has two sub-committees: a compensation 
committee and an audit committee.

At the Annual General Meeting, Anette Olsen and Christian Must 
were elected to the nomination committee.

The AGM also establishes the compensation of board members on 
an annual basis. In 2019, compensation of NOK 1.6 million was 
paid out in the form of directors’ fees.

Risk and risk management
NHST Media Group’s profitability over time is particularly af-
fected by market conditions impacting the company’s products as 
well as the organisation’s ability to develop competitive products 
and services that ensure adequate market share and a sufficient 
revenue base over the years. The Group is constantly working on 
organisational and skill development and developing new products 
and solutions to reduce market risk. In 2019, the Group’s invest-
ments were primarily concentrated around improving products 
and services within its core business.

The Group is exposed to various types of risk on an ongoing  
basis in relation to its ordinary operations, financial risk (includ-
ing translation risk and credit risk) and operational risk associated 
with the operation of a global organisation.

The Group is also exposed to translation risk since several of its 
products in the Global Publications segment receive or remit rev-
enue and expenses denominated in a foreign currency. Revenue is 
primarily earned in US dollar and euro while the most important 

currency on the cost side of the equation is the British pound. The 
net exposure has been found to be limited in relation to the size of the 
Group. The Group evaluates currency hedging on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s investment in Mention Solutions S.A.S. uses the euro 
as its functional currency, and exchange rate fluctuations between 
the euro and the Norwegian krone have an effect on the Group’s 
earnings and shareholders equity. The investment in Mynews-
desk uses the Swedish krona as its functional currency. Similarly, 
exchange rate fluctuations between the Swedish krona and the 
Norwegian krone have an effect on the Group’s earnings and 
shareholders equity.

In addition to the translation risk associated with a global customer 
portfolio, the Group is also exposed to a credit risk with respect to 
these customers. The Group tracks outstanding receivables on an 
ongoing basis and has dedicated employees to monitor customers 
and past due receivables.

Above and beyond this, the Group has little exposure to financial 
markets and does not make significant use of hedging instruments.

Management and monitoring of the group’s risk factors is carried 
out by the Board in the form of an overall risk review during its 
annual meeting with the auditor. In addition, the Board has an 
audit committee that assesses financial risk management and  
financial reporting. Management also prepares operational reports 
for the Board on an ongoing basis, and the majority of the Group’s 
activities are included in a consolidated group bank account system. 
Liquidity is managed centrally.

Outlook
It is expected that the markets for NHST Media Group’s activities 
will continue to be volatile in 2020. The Board expects demand 
to continue to decline for paper-based publications and grow for 
digitally distributed products and services.

The Group will continue to invest in the development of digital 
products in order to respond to this trend. NHST Media Group will 
also prioritise active business development in order to reinforce its 
position as an attractive, leading media company.

However, throughout the first few months of 2020, there has been 
heightened uncertainty about market conditions and financial  
results due to the spread of the coronavirus and concerns about 
the global economy. The Group is working on a number of mea-
sures to reduce the impact of these events on its finances, and has 
launched a cost reduction program amounting to more than NOK 
100 million for 2020.

Patrik HofbauerAnette S. Olsen
CHAIR PERSON

Anne Britt BerentsenRichard Olav Aa

Eva Margrethe HessenEspen Linderud Hege Yli Melhus Ask
CEO

Selin Haxha

Oslo, Norway, 21 April 2020
The Board of Directors of NHST Media Group AS
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 Note 2019 2018

Operating revenue and operating expenses

0 0 Sales revenue 2  1,168,313  1,257,083 

 87,746  85,938 Other operating revenue 2  30,965  36,372 

87,746 85,938 Total operating revenue 1,199,278 1,293,455

0 0 Consumption of goods and services 3  244,902 313,627

 57,292  50,823 Personnel costs 4.6  669,776  682,142 

 14,196  9,350 Ordinary depreciation 7  67,222  59,349 

 51,880  60,122 Other operating expenses 4.5  255,959 253,163

123,368 120,295 Total operating expenses 1,237,859 1,308,280

 (35,622)  (34,357) Operating profit/(loss) (38,581) (14,825)

Financial income and financial expenses

32,608 32,657 Income from investments in subsidiaries 8.9 0 0 

0 0 Income from investments in associated companies 9  (194) 0 

 (8,048)  (9,553) Interest expense to group companies 0 0 

9,790 9,564 Interest income 1,441 1,987 

2,771 0 Other financial income 3 10,255 

 (5,184) 0 Impairment of long-term investments 8  (500) 0 

 (3,376)  (9,560) Interest expenses  (5,893)  (2,720)

0  (512) Other financial expenses  (12,459)  (3,998)

28,562 22,597 Net financial items  (17,601) 5,524

 (7,061)  (11,759) Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before taxes (56,183) (9,300)

 (642) 9,655 Taxes 12 5,360  (3,845)

 (7,703)  (2,104) Profit/(loss) for the year  (50,822)  (13,146)

Minority interest share of profit/(loss) for the year 457 805

Majority interest share of profit/(loss) for the year  (51,279)  (13,951)

Transfers and allocations:

0 0 Allocated for dividends

 (7,703)  (2,104) Transferred to/(from) retained equity

 (7,703)  (2,104)

Profit and Loss Account
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Balance Sheet as of 
31 December

NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 ASSETS Note 2019 2018

Fixed assets

Intangible assets:

12,448  4,397 Other intangible assets 7  130,252  135,401 

0  0 Pre-paid taxes 0 0 

 4,996  14,651 Deferred tax assets 12 11,181 6,937 

0 0 Goodwill 7  145,877  168,613 

17,444 19,048 287,310 310,950

Property, plant & equipment (PP&E):

11,135  10,775 Inventory and office machinery 7  19,365  20,234

Fixed financial assets

239,785  280,935 Investments in subsidiaries 8 0 0 

0  1,000 Investments in associated companies and other investments 9  1,200  394 

 17,194  19,076 Pension assets 6  133,623  110,402 

5,817  5,818 Other non-current receivables 10  11,468  14,861 

131,584  122,733 Loans to Group companies 10 0 0 

394,380 429,561 146,291 125,658

422,959 459,385 Total fixed assets 452,966 456,842

Current assets

Receivables:

1,026  8 Accounts receivable 10  109,493  120,554 

55,273  54,745 Receivables from group companies 10 0 0 

8,788  8,349 Other current receivables  29,615  37,675 

65,086 63,102  139,108  158,228

Bank deposits et al

67,230  68,702 Bank deposits and cash 11  183,105  229,362

132,317 131,804 Total current assets 322,213 387,590

555,276 591,188 TOTAL ASSETS 775,179 844,432
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2019 2018

Shareholders equity

Paid-up capital:

12,879 12,879 Share capital 13.16 12,879 12,879 

 (448)  (448) Treasury stock 13 (448) (448)

50,551 50,551 Share premium 13  50,551  50,551 

62,983 62,983 62,983 62,983

Retained earnings:

 (12,076)  (14,180) Retained equity 13  (7,760)  31,064 

Minority interests 13  2,595  16,765 

50,907 48,803 Total equity 57,818 110,812

Liabilities

Provisions

9,219 10,064 Pension liabilities 6 20,617 18,758 

0  0 Deferred tax liabilities 12.18  11,941  16,560 
0 0 Other provisions 18  10,387  24,871 

9,219 10,064  42,945  60,189

Long-term liabilities: 

 100,000  170,000 Debt to financial institutions 14  170,000  100,000

 100,000  170,000  170,000  100,000

Current liabilities:

 5,508  4,454 Accounts payable  31,868  31,963 

0 0 Advances from customers  321,253  323,491 

 300,146  340,663 Debt to other Group companies 14 0 0 

0 0 Tax payable 12  1,905  2,694 

 1,762  521 Government taxes payable 41,683 47,381 

70,000 0 Debt to financial institutions 14 0 77,179 

 17,734  16,683 Other current liabilities 14  107,707  90,726 

 395,150  362,321 504,416 573,432

504,369 542,385 Total liabilities 717,361 733,621

555,276 591,188 TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 775,179 844,432
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Cash Flow Statement
NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

 (7,061)  (11,759) Profit/(loss) before taxes  (56,183)  (9,300)

0 0 Taxes paid for the period  (1,957)  (2,270)

0 0 Gain on the sale of long-term assets 0  (7,113)

14,196 9,350 Ordinary depreciation 67,222 59,349 

0 0 Income from investments in subsidiaries 0 0 

0 0 Impairment of long-term investments 194 0 

0 0 Change in inventory 0 12,589 

205 1,018 Change in accounts receivable 11,061 24,623 

 (630)  (1,054) Change in accounts payable  (94)  (19,903)

0 0 Change in advances from customers  (2,238) 17,471 

 (1,014)  (1,036) Change in net pension assets  (21,362) 9,702 

0 0 Unrealised currency translation (gains)/losses 4,329  (1,915)

 (60,176)  (32,249) Changes in other accruals 14,151  (7,265)

(54,479) (35,730) Net cash flow from operating activities 15,123 75,968

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

6,769 219 Proceeds from the sale of PP&E 0 14,530 

0 0 Proceeds from other investments 0 0 

 (4,700)  (1,158) Payments for the purchase of PP&E and intangible assets  (40,395)  (48,700)

0 0 Intragroup financing 0 0 

47,980 30,922 Proceeds from Group contributions and dividends 0 0 

 (7,173) 0 Payments for the purchase of shares of subsidiaries  (20,984)  (147,442)

 (119,562) 7,218 Payments for other investments 0 0 

(76,686) 37,201 Net cash flows from investing activities  (61,379)  (181,612)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 (3,870) 0 Payment of dividends 0  (3,870)

0 0 Proceeds from minority shareholders equity 0 0 

120,000 0 Proceeds (payment) - other financing 0 120,000 

116,130 0 Net cash flows from financing activities 0 116,130

(15,035) 1,471 Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (46,256) 10,486 

82,265 67,230 Cash and cash equivalents beginning of financial year (1/1) 229,362 218,876

67,230 68,702 Cash and cash equivalents end of financial year (31/12) 183,105 229,362
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The annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Accoun-
ting Act (‘Regnskapsloven’) of 1998 and 
best accounting practices in Norway. 

Principles for consolidation 
NHST Media Group AS is a holding company 
that handles administrative services for all 
its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated accounts include NHST 
Media Group and any subsidiaries where 
NHST Media Group directly or indirectly 
owns more than 50 per cent of the entity. 
Consistent accounting principles have been 
applied to the accounts of Group companies. 
All significant intra-company transactions 
and balances between Group companies 
have been eliminated. Investments in  
associated companies are calculated in  
accordance with the equity method in both 
the individual companies’ financial state-
ments and the consolidated accounts.

Items in the income statements of foreign 
subsidiaries are translated based on the  
average exchange rate for the year as a 
whole while balance sheet items are trans-
lated based on the exchange rate in effect 
on 31/12. 

Unrealised currency translation gains or  
losses are recognised against shareholders 
equity.

Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated in  
accordance with the acquisition method in 
the consolidated accounts. This means that 
the acquired company’s assets and liabiliti-
es are valued at their fair value at the time 
of the purchase and any amount paid abo-
ve and beyond this sum is classified as 
either intangible assets or goodwill. For 
partially owned subsidiaries, only NHST  
Media Group’s share of the goodwill has 
been included on the balance sheet. 
 
Operating revenue 
Ads are recognised as revenue at the time 
of publication. Advertising revenue is redu-
ced by commissions, discounts and refunds. 
Subscription revenue is invoiced and paid 
for in advance while the revenue is accrued 
linearly over the term of the agreement.  

Revenue from services is recognised  
proportionate to its earnings. 
 
Expenses 
Expenses are recognised as a rule during 
the same period as their associated reve-
nue. In cases where there is no clear  
correlation between expenses and revenue, 
the timing is determined based on discre-
tionary criteria. 
 
Valuation and classification of 
assets and liabilities 
Assets intended for long-term ownership  
or use are classified as fixed assets. Other 
assets are classified as current assets.  
Receivables due within one year are nonet-
heless classified as current assets. Corre-
sponding criteria are used as a basis for 
classification of current liabilities. 
 
Fixed assets are valued at their acquisition 
cost but are written down to fair value 
when their impairment is not expected to 
be temporary in nature. Fixed assets with  
a limited useful life are depreciated accor-
ding to a schedule. 
 
Current assets are valued at the lower of 
acquisition cost and fair value. Current l 
iabilities are recognised on the balance  
sheet at their nominal amount at the time 
of assumption. 
 
Certain items are valued according to other 
rules and are accounted for below. 
 
Intangible assets 
Expenses for the production of intangible 
assets are capitalised when it is likely that 
the future economic benefits associated 
with the assets will inure to the company 
and a reliable value can be placed on the 
acquisition. 

Intangible assets that are purchased indivi-
dually are carried on the balance sheet at 
their acquisition cost. Intangible assets as-
sumed when a business has been acquired 
are carried on the balance sheet at their  
acquisition cost when the criteria for recog-
nition have been met. 

Fixed assets with a limited useful life are 

depreciated according to a schedule. Intan-
gible assets are written down to fair value  
if their expected economic benefits are less 
than the sum of their carrying value and 
any remaining production costs. 
Ordinary depreciation is calculated using 
the straight-line method over the following 
number of years: 
 
Goodwill:    5 to 10 years 
Other intangible assets 3 to 10 years 
 
The company has chosen to amortise 
goodwill over a period of more than five  
years in certain cases. Amortisation periods 
in excess of five years reflect the underlying 
operations of the companies to which the 
goodwill is related. Since for companies in 
the development phase, break-even return 
on equity and cash flow may not be 
reached within five years of the time of the 
company’s acquisition, an amortisation  
period corresponding more closely with the 
company’s operations has been chosen. 
 
Property, plant & equipment 
(PP&E) 
PP&E is depreciated over the expected use-
ful life of the asset. Ordinary depreciation is 
calculated using the straight-line method 
over the following number of years: 
 
Vehicles:    5 years 
Inventory/office equipment:   5 years 
IT equipment:     3 to 5 years 
Refurbishment or remodelling of premises:   
Over the remaining lease term. See Note 7. 
 
Shares and participations in 
subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are valued in  
accordance with the cost method in the  
individual companies’ financial statements. 
The investments are written down to their 
fair value if the impairment is not temporary 
in nature. Dividends and group contribu-
tions received from subsidiaries are recog-
nised as other financial income. 
 
Investments in associated companies are 
valued in accordance with the equity  
method both in the individual companies’ 
financial statements and the consolidated 
accounts. 
 

Notes 1 
NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
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Notes 1, 2, 3, 4

NHST GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018
0 0 Advertisements 273,752 306,012 

0 0 Subscriptions and newsstand sales 880,150 865,120 

0 0 Other sales revenue 14 411 85,951 

0 0 Total sales revenue 1,168,313 1,257,083 

0 0 Gain on the sale of long-term assets 0 31 

84,352 82,442 Sales to Group companies 0 0 

0 0 Gain on disposal of a business 0 7,113 

0 0 Press subsidies 17,101 12,599 

3,394 3,497 Other operating revenue 13,864 16,629 

87,746 85,938 Total other operating revenue 30,965 36,372

NOTE 2 | OPERATING INCOME Figures in NOK 1,000

Other long-term investments  
in shares 
Investments in shareholdings, where the 
company does not have a significant con-
trolling interest in the company, are carried 
on the balance sheet at their acquisition 
cost. The investments are written down to 
their fair value if the impairment is not tem-
porary in nature. Dividends received from 
the companies are recognised as Other  
financial income. 
 
Pensions 
When accounting for defined benefit plan 
pension expenses, the liability is distributed 
over the vesting period in accordance with 
the plan’s vesting formula. The allocation 
method corresponds to the plan’s vesting 
formula unless the majority of vesting takes 
place towards the end of the vesting period. 
The vesting is calculated linearly. 
Deviations in estimates and the effects of 
modified assumptions are both amortised 
over the expected remaining vesting period 
to the extent that these exceed 10% of the 
greater of the pension liabilities or the 
amount of the pension fund (Corridor Rule). 
The effect of retroactive plan modifications 
that are not contingent on future employ-
ment is recognised immediately in the  
income statement. Retroactive plan changes 
contingent on future employment are allo-
cated linearly over time until the service is 
no longer contingent on future employ-
ment. 
 
The net pension liability is the difference 
between the net present value of the pension 

liability and the value of the pension assets 
that have been allocated for payment of 
the services. The pension assets have been 
valued at fair value. Pension assets and  
liabilities are calculated as of the balance 
sheet date. The employer`s tax is calcula-
ted based on the actual net funding deficit 
and has been included in the figures. 

The company’s ordinary pension plan entit-
les all members to a future defined contri-
bution. This is primarily dependent on the 
number of service years, the salary level at 
the time of retirement and the calculated 
benefit from NIS according to the current 
regulations. The Group has accrued for a 
tariff-based private sector pension scheme 
(‘AFP’) for individuals who have signed up 
for this type of pension. 
 
Contribution plans are accrued according 
to the matching principle. The annual con-
tribution to the pension scheme is expensed. 
 
The Group has a made a provision for a  
calculated pension liability for certain senior 
executives with salaries over an NIS basic 
amount of 12G [NOK 1,198,296 as of 2019]. 

The provision is calculated on the basis of 
the same parameters as the defined benefit 
plan, and the annual calculated earnings are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
Accounts receivable and other 
receivables 
Accounts receivable and other receivables 
are entered in the annual financial state-

ments at face value, less provisions for future 
losses. 

Bank deposits and cash 
Bank deposits and cash include cash, bank 
deposits and other means of payment with 
a maturity of less than three months from 
the date of acquisition. 
 
Foreign currency 
Bank deposits, receivables and foreign-cur-
rency-denominated debt are translated at 
the exchange rate in effect on the balance 
sheet date. Subscriptions paid in advance in 
a foreign currency are valued on 31/12 at 
the weighted average of the exchange rate 
in effect at the time of payment and the 
forward rate. 
 
Taxes 
The tax expense is compared with the ear-
nings before tax (EBT) in the accounting 
statements. Tax associated with equity 
transactions is posted to shareholders equity. 
The tax expense consists of tax payable 
(tax on the year’s directly taxable income) 
and the change in net deferred tax liabiliti-
es. The tax expense is allocated between 
Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before 
taxes and Profit/(loss) from extraordinary 
items in accordance with current tax regu-
lations. Deferred tax liabilities and Deferred 
tax assets are presented in net amounts in 
the balance sheet.

NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, CONTINUED
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NOTE 2 | OPERATING REVENUE, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST  GROUP
2018 2019 2019 2018

0 0 Cost of goods sold (COGS) 0 51,138 

0 0 Printing services 57,778 64,747 

0 0 Distribution 88,776 103,218 

0 0 Purchased material 87,733 82,166 

0 0 Conference expenses 10,615 12,359 

0 0 Total 244,902 313,627 

NOTE 3 | CONSUMPTION OF GOODS AND SERVICES Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATIONS, ETC. Figures in NOK 1,000

 NHST  GROUP
2018 2019 Personnel costs 2019 2018

46,317 40,010 Salaries and wages 526,473 536,810 

6,094 5,936 Social insurance (‘NIS’) taxes 86,075 86,092 

(1,014) (1,036) Pension expenses - defined benefit/non-statutory executive 8,954 11,539 

680 786 Pension expenses - contributions 10,171 10,790 

0 0 Pension expenses - abroad 12,785 11,322 

5,215 5,127 Other benefits 25,318 25,590 

57,292 50,823 Total 669,776 682,142

28 30 Average number of FTEs 680 731

Revenue distribution by geographic market:

NHST  GROUP
2018 2019 2019 2018

87,746 85,938 Norway 767,458 820,236 

0 0 Rest of Europe and Africa 321,510 337,926 

0 0 North and South America 51,322 50,794 

0 0 Asia and Oceania 58,988 84,499 

87,746 85,938 Total 1,199,278 1,293,455 
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Notes 4, 5 and 6

 
NHST

 
GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018
590 513 Statutory auditing 3,279 3,504 

0 0 Other attestation services 78 19 

66 116 Tax consulting 135 115 

469 391 Other services 436 640 

1,126 1,020 Total 3,928 4,277

NHST GROUP
2018 2019 2019 2018

39,973 36,868 Office expenses 152,878 153,355 

313 98 Marketing 19,241 21,044 

0 0 Loss on bad debts 182 3,548 

11,595 23,156 Miscellaneous expenses 83,658 75,215 

51,880 60,122 Total 255,959 253,163 

NOTE 5 | OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP
2018 2019 Compensation and fees 2019 2018
1,125 1,630 Directors’ fees paid 2,715 2,150 

4,209 6,261 CEO compensation 6,261  4,209

The CEO’s compensation package includes a bonus, free car and pension expenses. The bonus agreement is a performance and 
evaluation-based agreement.

Total compensation consists of salary, severance pay and other remuneration paid in 2019 to the prior CEO, where the employment 
relationship terminated effective 1 February 2018, along with salary and other remuneration to the new CEO, where employment com-
menced on 1 November 2018. Total compensation consisted of NOK 5.403 million in salary and NOK 0.857 million in other remuneration.

According to the severance agreement, the prior CEO was entitled to 18 months of severance pay upon termination and thus  
received a salary through the end of July 2019. This was expensed in its entirety once the employment obligation ceased.

The new CEO has an agreement for 6 months’ advance notice of termination with pay.

No guarantees have been given on behalf of to senior executives. Likewise, no loans or guarantees have been pledged to board  
members in 2019.

Directors’ fees paid amounted to NOK 230,000 for the Chairman of the Board of NHST Media Group and NOK 200,000 all other 
board members, not including fees for committee work. Outside board members in the subsidiaries receive directors’ fees for their 
work proportionate with the size of the companies.

Remuneration to Deloitte AS, excluding VAT, for statutory auditing as well as the amounts expensed for any remaining fees of  
Deloitte AS and collaborating companies were distributed as follows:

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATIONS, ETC. CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000
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NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES Figures in NOK 1,000

The company is obliged to have an occupational pension plan in accordance with the Act relating to mandatory occupational pen-
sions (‘Lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon’). All Norwegian companies in the Group have a pension plan for their employees that 
meets the requirements of this law. Five of the companies have defined benefit pension plans, of which four were closed to new 
enrolees on 1/1/2010 and one was closed on 30/06/11. At those times, defined contribution plans were set up at the companies 
that closed their defined benefit plans to new enrolees. The remaining companies, located both in Norway and abroad, have defined 
contribution plans.

The Group has a made a provision for a calculated pension liability for certain senior executives with salaries over an NIS basic amount 
of 12G [NOK 1,198,296 as of 2019]. This provision is intended to cover a pension of up to 66% of wages from 67 to 77 years of age. 
The provision is calculated on the basis of the same parameters as the defined benefit plan, and the annual calculated earnings are 
expensed as incurred. The plan is not funded.

Defined contribution plans
The Group’s defined contribution plans for employees in Norway are organised in accordance with the Act relating to defined contri-
bution pensions (‘Lov om innskuddspensjon’). The contribution that the companies make to the defined contribution plan amounts 
to 4.5-5.54% of wages between 1 and 7.1 G [NOK 99,858 and 708,992 in 2019] and 4.5-8% between 6 and 12 G [NOK 599,148 and 
1,198,296 in 2019]. A disability pension is offered to employees in Norway. This amounts to 10-20% of G, up to a maximum of 6% of 
the pension basis. 

The supplemental coverage is 66% of the pension basis between 6 G and 12 G. The defined contribution plans covered 252 employees 
as of 31/12/2019.

Defined benefit pension plans:
This liability covers 15 employees and 9 pensioners in NHST Media Group AS. For the entire Group, the plans cover 143 employees 
and 88 pensioners.

Liabilities and expenses are calculated based on the following assumptions:

 2019 2018
Discount rate 2.28% 2.74%

Expected ROE 4.20% 4.25%

Wage adjustment 2.18% 2.70%

Inflation/NIS basic rate adjustment 2.00% 2.50%

Pension adjustment 0.70% 1.00%

Voluntary retirement for employees under the age of 40 10.00% 10.00%

Voluntary retirement for employees between the ages of 40 and 55 5.00% 5.00%

Voluntary retirement for employees over the age of 55 2.00% 2.00%

NHST GROUP

2019 2018 2019 2018

Pension expense - defined contribution pensions 786 680 10,171 10,790
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Notes 6 and 7
The net pension expense is made up of the following components: NHST GROUP

2019 2018 2019 2018
Net present value (NPV) of the year’s pension accrual 1,157 972 9,477 10,188 

Interest expense of accrued pension liabilities 736 652 7,002 6,883 

National Insurance Scheme (NIS) contribution 163 137 1,332 1,432 

Return on pension assets (2,630) (2,440) (14,197) (13,730)

Recognised changes in estimates and deviations (1,308) (1,444) 1,029 1,165 

Member contributions 0 0 0 0 

Recognised net liability at time of settlement 0 (61) 0 (805)

Administrative expenses 0 559 2,453 6,138 

Net pension expense - defined benefit pensions (1,881) (1,624) 7,095 11,271

Net pension expense - non-statutory executive pensions 845 611 1,859 268

Total net pension expense - defined benefit/non-statutory executive (1,036) (1,014) 8,954 11,539

Balance as of 31/12
Estimated value of pension assets 66,018 62,494 367,181 339,632 

National Insurance Scheme (NIS) contribution 0 0 32 92 

Estimated accrued pension liabilities (23,761) (27,190) (269,536) (258,892)

Estimated net pension assets (liabilities) 42,257 35,303 97,678 80,833

Non-recognised changes in estimates and deviations (23,181) (18,109) 35,945 29,569

Book value of pension assets (liabilities) - defined benefit plans 19,076 17,194 133,623 110,402

Book value of pension assets (liabilities) - non-statutory executive pensions (10,064) (9,219) (20,617) (18,758)

Net pension assets (liabilities) - defined benefit/non-statutory executive 9,012 7,976 113,006 91,644

NHST GROUP 

Other intangible 
assets Goodwill Goodwill

Other intangible 
assets

42,777 0 Acquisition cost - 1/1 307,238 285,540

0 0 Acquisitions 0 35,758

219 0 Disposals 0 0

0 0 Unrealised currency translation (gains)/losses (1,115) (665)

42,558 0 Acquisition cost 31/12 306,122 320,633

38,161 0 Accumulated depreciation - 31/12 160,245 190,381

4,397 0 Book value - 31/12 145,877 130,252

7,831 0 Depreciation for the year 21,620 40,242

0 0 Amortisation for the year 0 0

3 to 10 years 5 to 10 years Expected useful life 5 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Straight-line Straight-line Depreciation schedule Straight-line Straight-line

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000
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The company has a non-refundable surety bond for the Akerselva Atrium AS lease in the amount of NOK 16 million. 

Property, plant & equipment (PP&E):

NHST GROUP

Machinery 
and equip-

ment

Refurbish-
ment or 

remodelling 
of premises

Artwork /
 Company 

cabin
Total Total

Artwork / 
Company 

cabin

Refurbish-
ment or re-

modelling 
of premises

Machinery 
and equip-

ment

12,920 15,609 7,392 35,921 Acquisition cost - 1/1 83,454 7,654 30,427 45,373

939 219 0 1,158 Acquisitions 4,637 0 271 4,366

0 0 0 0 Disposals 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 Unrealised currency translation 
(gains)/losses

(146) 0 0 (146)

13,858 15,828 7,392 37,079 Acquisition cost - 31/12 87,946 7,654 30,698 49,593

12,191 13,863 250 26,304 Acc. depreciation and amortisa-
tion - 31/12

68,581 251 26,016 42,315

1,668 1,965 7,142 10,775 Book value - 31/12 19,365 7,403 4,682 7,279

585 871 63 1,518 Depreciation for the year 5,360 63 1,739 3,558

0 0 0 0 Amortisation for the year 0 0 0 0

 3 to 5 years  Lease term Expected useful life  Lease term  3 to 5 years 

Straight-line Straight-line Depreciation schedule Straight-line Straight-line

GROUP GROUP

Goodwill specified per associated company: Book value - 31/12
Depreciation / amortisa-

tion for the year
2019 2018 2019 2018

Mention Solutions SAS 114,996 129,363 13,251 4,318

Mynewsdesk AB 22,660 29,713 7,053 7,464

Morgenbladet AS 8,222 9,537 1,315 1,315

Total 145,877 168,613 21,620 13,097

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS Figures in NOK 1,000

Off-balance sheet lease contracts (Group)
Duration of 

contract

Lease ex-
penses for 

the year
Akerselva Atrium, Chr. Krohgsgt 16, Oslo, Norway (headquarters) 4 years 21,209 

125 Wood Street, London, UK 5 years 3,958 

Rosenlundsgatan 40, Stockholm, Sweden 1.5 years 2,897 

Sandbrogaten 5-7, Bergen, Norway 0 years 370 

Hainstr 20-24, Leipzig, Germany 1.5 years 241 

Joseph Wild str. 20, Munich, Germany 10 years 804 

Boulevard Montmartre 9, Paris, France 6 years 1,715 

Rent - Two Memorial Plaza, 820 Gessner Suite 775, Houston TX, USA 3 years 642 

Reidar Berges gate 9, Stavanger, Norway 1 year 169 

Lynnwood (Seattle), WA, USA 5 years 402 

Rent, 1010 Washington Blvd, Stamford CT, USA 3.5 years 549 

Vesterbrogate 149, Copenhagen, Denmark 2 years 701 

Other leasing terms vary 1,835 

Total rent for the year 35,493
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Notes 8 and 9

Company
Date of a 

cquisition
Registered 

office

Ownership 
and voting 

share
Acquisition 

cost
Book value - 

31/12

Sharehold-
ers equity 

- 31/12
Profit/(loss) 
for the year

Subsidiary:

Dagens Næringsliv AS 01/01/1991 Oslo 100.0% 17,251 17,251 86,691,664 16,841 

NHST Charts AS 01/01/1964 Oslo 100.0% 78,022 40,000 49,665 (299)

NHST Global Publications AS 09/01/1985 Oslo 100.0% 42,526 18,161 45,491,291 (1,180)

NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd 09/09/1997 Singapore 100.0% 4 4 19,305 1,962 

Europower AS 02/01/2001 Oslo 100.0% 4,808 4,808 1,598 (468)

Dagens Næringsliv Privat Økonomi AS 01/06/2006 Oslo 100.0% 125 125 101 1 

Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende AS 01/12/2006 Oslo 100.0% 230 230 201 4 

Mynewsdesk AB 07/08/2008 Stockholm 100.0% 167,233 167,233 47,615 (91)

Mynewsdesk Technologies AS 24/03/2004 Oslo 100.0% 7,622 0 4,928 825 

NHST Germany GmbH 05/12/2012 Leipzig 100.0% 203 203 (14,807) 0 

Morgenbladet AS 03/03/2016 Oslo 90.8% 32,918 32,919 26,112 570 

NHST Holding USA Inc. 01/06/2017 Stamford 100.0% 1 1 (182) (10)

Total investments in shares of subsid-
iaries as of 31/12/2018 

350,943 280,935

Subsidiaries of Dagens Næringsliv AS: 

DN Nye Muligheter AS 22/05/2017 Oslo 100.0% 30 30 30 0

Subsidiaries of NHST Global 
Publications AS:

Fiskeribladet AS 20/06/2007 Bergen 100.0% 10,900 10,900 26,303 3,150

Subsidiaries of NHST Charts AS: 

Navicharts AS 06/11/2000 Oslo 100.0% 130 130 85 2 

Nautical Charts Hong Kong Ltd 01/01/2013 Hong Kong 100.0% 1 1 (2,977) (152)

Subsidiaries of NHST Holding USA Inc.:

NHST Global Publications USA Inc. 01/06/2017 Stamford 100.0% 1 1 (3,147) 2,262 

Nautisk Forlag USA Inc. 13/12/2011 New Orleans 100.0% 19,812 19,812 111 0 

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES Figures in NOK 1,000
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Company
Date of ac-

quisition
Registered 

office

Ownership 
and voting 

share
Acquisition 

cost
Book value - 

31/12

Sharehold-
ers equity 

- 31/12

Subsidiaries of Europower AS:

Energi Forlag AS 10/09/2007 Oslo 100.0% 112 112 75 0

Subsidiaries of NHST Asia Pte Ltd:

NHST India 01/06/2011 New Delhi 100.0% 0 0 0 0 

NHST Monde Ltd 01/06/2011 New Delhi 50.0% 374 0 (3,924) 0 

 

Subsidiaries of Mynewsdesk AB:

Mynewsdesk AS 01/07/2010 Oslo 100.0% 100 100 372 1,312 

Mynewsdesk Aps 11/10/2011 Copenhagen 100.0% 106 106 3,714 833 

Mynewsdesk Ltd 22/08/2011 London 100.0% 11 11 3,457 456 

Mynewsdesk Oy 01/01/2017 Helsinki 100.0% 25 25 801 162 

Mention Solutions SAS 31/08/2018 Paris 95.0% 191,508 191,508 3,741 (9,709)

Subsidiaries of NHST Germany GmbH:

Mynewsdesk GmbH 20/09/2013 Leipzig 100.0% 209 209 6,310 1,469

Subsidiaries of Mention Solutions SAS:

Mention Solutions USA Inc. 31/08/2018 Kent 100.0% 1 1 2,762 906

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 9 | INVESTMENTS IN OTHER SHARES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

Company Date of 
acquisition

Registered 
office

Ownership 
and voting 

share

Acquisition 
cost

Book value 
- 31/12

Book value - 
31/12

Norkon Computing Systems AS 01/07/2015 Oslo 25.0% 550 0 0 

Task Technologies AS 01/01/2017 Oslo 27.0% 750 0 0 

Science Addiction AS 17/10/2018 Oslo 0.8% 200 0 200 

Norwegian PEN’s foundation for freedom of expression 31/01/2019 Oslo 8.0% 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total shares 1,000 1,200

Companies accounted for using the equity method 

 
Task Tech-

nologies AS 

 Norkon 
Computing 
Systems AS Total

Allocation of the original acquisition cost:

Shareholders equity recognised at the time of purchase  193  550  25,655 

Attributable intangible assets  0   0 0   

Goodwill  557 0  7,177 

Total original acquisition cost  750  550  32,832 

Opening balance - 01/01 194 0 194

Share of profit/(loss) for the year 0  0 0

Equity emissions  0 0 0 

Impairment 0 0 0 

Closing balance - 31/12  (194) 0  (194) 

Investments in associated companies and other investments

The companies are evaluated annually based on the net present value (NPV) of the expected future cash flow stream to assess any need for 
impairment.
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Notes 10, 11 and 12

NOTE 10 | RECEIVABLES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018

Accounts receivable:

1,026 8 Accounts receivable at face value 111,060 125,450 

0 0 Provision for bad debts (1,567) (4,896)

1,026 8 Accounts receivable on the balance sheet 109,493 120,554

Receivables with maturities over one year:

117 118 Deposits and other non-current receivables  5,768  9,161 

5,700 5,700 Pension fund contributions 5,700 5,700 

5,817 5,818 Total other non-current receivables 12,468 14,861 

131,584 122,733 Loans to Group companies 0 0 

137,402 128,551 Total receivables with maturities over one year 12,468 14,861 

2018 2019 Intra-group balances 

 38,713  26,510 Dagens Næringsliv AS

 158 0 NHST Charts AS

0   158 NHST Global Publications USA Inc.

 0   76 Mention Solutions SAS 

503 254 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

 631  646 Europower AS

 0    186 Fiskeribladet AS

 2,660  1,899 Mynewsdesk AB

1,686  1,690 Mynewsdesk AS 

9,829  21,561 NHST Global Publications AS

19 0 Energi Forlag AS 

 294 294 Nautical Charts Hong Kong Ltd

 43 43 NHST Charts UK branch

 101  403 Morgenbladet AS

 636  1,024 Mynewsdesk Technologies AS

 55,273  54,745 Total

2018 2019 Balances with associated companies 2019 2018
0 0 Norkon Computing Systems AS  2,492  2,407 

0 0 Total  2,492  2,407 
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NHST GROUP
2018 2019 Restricted bank deposits 2019 2018
2,258 2,695 Reserved withholding tax 14,222 20,481 

0 0 Deposits 0 0 

2,258 1,960 Total restricted bank deposits 14,222 20,481 

NOTE 11 | RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

2018 2019 Tax expense for the year appears below: 2019 2018

0 0 Tax payable 941 2,138 

0 0 Foreign tax payable 1,957 767 

0 0 Tax on Group contributions 0 0 

415 (9,655) Change in deferred tax liabilities (8,412) 751 

227 0 Effect of tax rate change 0 189 

0 0 Change in prior years 154 0 

642 (9,655) Taxes (5,360) 3,845 

Tax payable on the balance sheet: 

0 0 Tax payable for the year 2,898 2,906

0 0 Underreporting/(overreporting) of taxes during prior years 0 0

0 0 Foreign tax liabilities (credits) (993) (212)

0 0 Tax payable on the balance sheet 1,905 2,694

Reconciliation from nominal to 
actual tax rate: 

 (7,061)  (11,759) Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before taxes  (56,183)  (9,300) 

(1,624)  (2,587) Expected income tax based on the nominal tax rate (12,360)  (2,139) 

Tax effect of the following items:     

0 Amortisation of goodwill 4,756 3,012 

1,073 206 Other non-deductible expenses 743 1,212 

0 (6,600) Other non-taxable income 0 0

1,192 0 Impairment of non-freely transferable shares 0 0 

0 0 Foreign tax effects (992) (756)

227 0 Effect of changes in the tax laws and taxation rates 0 189 

(226) 0 Change in off-balance sheet deferred tax assets 2,913 1,611 

0 (674) Other items (421) 715 

642 (9,655) Tax income (expense) (5,360) 3,845 

(9%) 82% Effective tax rate 10% (41%)

NOTE 12 | TAXES Figures in NOK 1,000
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Notes 12, 13 and 14

NHST 
Share capi-

tal 
Treasury 

stock
Share pre-

mium 
Retained 

equity Total
Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2018 12,879 (448) 50,551 (12,076) 50,906 

 

Change in shareholders equity for the year:

Allocated for dividends 0 0 0 0  0

Corrections - prior years 0 0 0 0 0 

Profit/(loss) for the year 0 0 0 (2,104)   (2,104) 

Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2019 12,879 (448) 50,551 (14,180) 48,803  

GROUP
Share capi-

tal
Treasury 

stock
Share pre-

mium
Retained 

equity
Minority 
interests Total

Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2018 12,879 (448) 50,551 31,064 16,765 110,812 
  

Change in shareholders equity for the year:

Allocated for dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Corrections - prior years 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change in minority interests 0 0 0 8,127 (14,627) (6,500)

Unrealised currency translation (gains)/losses 0 0 0 4,328 0 4,328 

Profit/(loss) for the year 0 0 0 (51,279) 457 (50,822)

Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2019 12,879 (448) 50,551 (7,760) 2,595 57,818 

NOTE 12 | TAXES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

 Specification of the tax effect of deductible temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards: 

 NHST  GROUP 
 Change  2018  2019  2019  2018  Change 

390 (1,619) (1,229)  Property, plant & equipment (PP&E) 6,022 6,291 (269)

0 0 0  Inventory (113) (113) 0

0 0 0  Receivables (318) (720) 402 

597 (689) (91)  Provisions (1,584) (933) (651)

228 1,755 1,983  Pensions 24,861 20,162 4,700 

(5) 23 18  Other differences 18 14 4 

(10,866) (4,466) (15,331)  Tax loss carryforwards (28,860) (17,451) (11,409)

(9,655) (4,996) (14,651)  Total 27 7,251 (7,223)

0 0 0  Off-balance sheet deferred tax assets  733  2,372  (1,639) 

(9,655) (4,996) (14,651)  Net deferred liabilities/assets on the balance sheet 761 9,623 (8,862)

9,655 4,996 14,651  Recognised deferred tax assets 11,181 6,937 (4,244)

0 0 0  Recognised deferred taxes 11,941 16,560 4,618 

(9,655) (4,996) (14,651)  Net deferred liabilities/assets on the balance sheet 761 9,623 (8,862)

NOTE 13 | EQUITY Figures in NOK 1,000

 Deferred tax assets are recognised on the basis of future income. 

Treasury stock: 
The company owns a total of 44,752 shares of treasury stock. Among other things, the shares were acquired in order to be able to use treasury 
stock for business development purposes and/or as a part of option benefit plans.
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Debt to other Group companies:

 NHST
2018 2019

187,888 181,877 Dagens Næringsliv AS

0 886 Mynewsdesk Aps 

0 441 Mynewsdesk Oy

0 2,891 Mynewsdesk Ltd

0 32 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

0 2,413 Mynewsdesk AS 

5,420 4,265 Europower AS

40 5,247 Mynewsdesk Technologies AS

0 0 Recharge AS

558 331 Fiskeribladet AS

0 17 NHST Global Publications USA Inc.

88,417 87,644 NHST Global Publications AS

676 367 Morgenbladet AS 

17,113 44,268 NHST Charts AS 

34 9,985 Mynewsdesk AB

300,146  340,663 Total

Consolidated accounts and collateral 
Effective 1 February 2019, NHST entered into an agreement for a new long-term credit line of NOK 250 million with DNB 
ASA. This runs through December 2021. As of 31/12/2019, NOK 170 million have been drawn on this credit facility. The 
loan is classified as a long-term liability in the financial statements. The financing has a variable interest rate based on NIBOR 
+ margin and was provided with collateral against Dagens Næringsliv’s accounts receivable. NHST Media Group (including 
NHST Media Group AS), Dagens Næringsliv, NHST Global Publications and Mynewsdesk are jointly and severally liable for 
withdrawals from the facility. The revolving credit line has covenant requirements associated with it. 

All bank accounts in NHST Media Group’s consolidated account system involve a relationship between the parent company 
and the bank. Other Group companies are participants in the consolidated account agreement. In the consolidated account 
system, all deposits/withdrawals of Group companies are presented in the financial statements as the receivables/liabilities 
of companies within the same Group. The consolidated account system does not include Morgenbladet and Fiskeribladet. 

NOTE 14 | DEBT 

Other current liabilities:

 NHST GROUP
 2018  2019  2019  2018 
3,431 3,540 Accrued holiday pay 40,741 37,677 

11,682 9,357 Appropriated wages and salaries 38,061 20,637 

0 0 Appropriated distributions 249 1,052 

1,590 1,630 Appropriated directors’ fees 2,814 2,756 

1,032 2,155 Other accrued costs 25,843 28,604 

 17,735  16,682 Total  107,707  90,725 



42 NHST MEDIA GROUP / ANNUAL REPORT / 2019

Notes 15, 16, 17 and 18

Shares directly or indirectly owned by board members, the CEO and their family members: 

Name Position Number of 
shares

Ownership 
interest

Anette S. Olsen* Chairman of 
the Board

695,386 53.99%

Richard Olav Aa Board  
Member

565 0.04%

NOTE 15 | RELATED PARTIES 

The parent company, NHST Media Group AS, supplies IT and financial services to Group companies, which are invoiced in propor-
tion to their use of the services. In addition, the companies are charged a share of the common expenses proportionate with 
either their use of IT and/or financial services or their number of employees.

NOTE 16 | SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

Share capital as of 31/12/2019 was NOK 12.879 million (1,287,925 shares at a face value of NOK 10 each), consisting of just a 
single class of shares.  

Each share entitles the shareholder to one vote.

Ownership structure
The 20 largest shareholders of NHST Media Group AS as of 31/12: NUMBER OF SHARES OWNERSHIP 

INTEREST

Bonheur ASA 695,386 53.99%

Must Invest AS 280,075 21.75%

Fredrik Olsen AS 28,290 2.20%

Fr Falck Frås AS 23,513 1.83%

Sjøgress AS 23,167 1.80%

Pareto AS 21,475 1.67%

MP Pensjon PK 20,269 1.57%

Røed, Gunvor Jorunn H 15,200 1.18%

Amble Investments AS 14,236 1.11%

DNB Livsforsikring 14,144 1.10%

Straen AS 13,743 1.07%

Taconic AS 12,144 0.94%

M&G Invest AS 11,152 0.87%

Oak Management AS 5,750 0.45%

Tyin AS 4,480 0.35%

Belvedere AS 3,639 0.28%

Fjellbakke AS 3,292 0.26%

Øie, Odd Reidar 3,234 0.25%

Must, Annelise 3,150 0.24%

Meinich, Grethe 2,800 0.22%

Total - largest shareholders 1,199,139 93.11%

Total - others 44,034 3.42%

Treasury stock 44,752 3.47%

Total number of shares 1,287,925 100.0%

* Ownership interest indicated for Anette S. Olsen is based on shares owned by Bonheur ASA, where Ms Olsen is the CEO.
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NOTE 17 | POST-CLOSING EVENTS 

NOTE 18 | TRANSACTIONS

The Mention acquisition went into effect on 1 September 2018. Four months of operations were recognised in the consolidated 
accounts for the fourth quarter of 2018. 

The consolidation and the acquisition analysis were based on the fact that Mynewsdesk effectively controlled 100 per cent of 
the shares at the time of the acquisition through a put/call contract that expires in 2021. 

Actual ownership was 85% at the time of acquisition. A call option component for the final 15% in the amount of EUR 2.5 million 
was added to the calculated purchase price. This amount was recognised in Other long-term liabilities. The Group acquired an 
additional 9.7 per cent of the shares in October 2019. Following this, the amount remaining from the call option component is 
EUR 1.1 million. This will be evaluated on an ongoing basis against the pricing model (a sales*multiple model) for the approx. 5% 
of shares remaining.

The acquisition analysis showed that intangible assets at the time of the transaction equalled EUR 18.2 million. The acquisition 
and intangible assets were calculated in EUR and are therefore subject to currency translation at the end of each fiscal period. 

The intellectual property and intangible asset analysis identified intangible assets associated with customers, technology, trade-
marks and contracts as well as residual goodwill. All of these components are included under Intangible assets. 

Each individual intangible asset item is amortised over its useful life. 

The excess value identified in relation to customer contracts at the time of acquisition led to a downward adjustment of revenue 
in the amount of approximately EUR 112,100 per month over the 12 months following the date of the acquisition, i.e. for four 
months in 2018 and eight months in 2019. Other intangible assets are amortised a total of EUR 172.5 per month. 

The effect of intangible asset revenue adjustment and amortisation on earnings was NOK 11.1 million.  
This amounted to NOK 30.0 million for the 2019 fiscal year. 

The coronavirus (COVID-19) was discovered in January 2020. To counteract the spread of the virus, authorities in a number  
of countries have implemented strong measures. Over a period of time, this will lead to a lower level of economic activity on  
a global basis, especially in the countries where the contagion is most widespread. For NHST Media Group, this will result in  
delays and cancellations in the conference market and reduced demand in the advertising market. The effect on demand  
in relation to news media subscriptions and other areas of business, such as subscriptions in the SaaS segment, is likewise  
uncertain. The financial ramifications for the Group are difficult to estimate as there is considerable uncertainty in relation to  
the duration and extent of the outbreak. Aside from the effect on demand, there will also be an effect on the currencies used 
for transactions throughout our global businesses. 

Changed market outlook due to the corona pandemic has resulted in an impairment of goodwill, capitalized on the purchase of 
the French subsidiary mention in 2018, in the amount of NOK 80,6 million in the accounts for the first quarter 2020. The group 
is nevertheless confident about Mention`s  long term competitiveness and potential for profitability.

Authorities in Norway and a number of other countries have introduced measures in response to the spread of the virus  
and communicated that they will implement additional crisis response policies to limit the negative financial impact on their 
economies going forward. NHST is carefully following the situation and working continuously to draft risk remediation  
measures.

Aside from the coronavirus, there have been no events after the balance sheet date that will have a material effect on the 2019 
financial statements. 
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To the General Meeting of NHST Media Group AS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of NHST Media Group AS showing a loss of NOK 2 104 000 in 
the financial statements of the parent company and loss of NOK 50 822 000 in the financial statements 
of the group. The financial statements comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company NHST Media Group AS (the Company), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of NHST Media Group AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 
• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Company as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards 
and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation in 
accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely 
that the enterprise will cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going 
concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the result is consistent with the financial 
statements and complies with the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 
3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is 
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration 
and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and 
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
Oslo, 21 April 2020 
Deloitte AS 
 
 
 
 
Bjørn Prestegard  
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway) 
 
 
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only. 
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Shareholder Information
NHST Media Group AS’s (NHST) shares 
are unlisted, but stock transactions through 
brokers are reported and appear on the 
NOTC List (www.notc.no). The shares are 
in principle freely transferable. However, in 
accordance with the company’s Articles of 
Association, the Board of Directors must 
approve any share transfers. Very limited 
trading occurs in the shares. 

The company’s 10 largest shareholders are 
listed in Note 16 of the annual financial sta-
tement. Including NHST Media Group AS 
by virtue of its treasury stock, these control 
91% of the shares. Excluding treasury 
stock, the ten largest shareholders own 
88% of the shares. As of 31/12/2019, there 
were 255 shareholders of the company, and 
the number of outstanding shares was 

1,287,926. The company has 44,752  
treasury shares and thus 1,243,174 net  
shares outstanding.

The company’s custodian is DNB ASA,  
Corporate Services, Dronning Eufemias 
gate 30, N-0191 Oslo, Norway.  
The company’s Norwegian CSD number is 
ISIN NO 0005007807. NHST publishes its 
quarterly results via both NOTC notifica-
tions and the company’s website:  
www.nhst.no. 

NHST seeks to follow NUES’ recommenda-
tions on responsible corporate governance, 
which are described in more detail in both 
the Annual Report of the Board of Directors 
and on the following pages. 

At year’s end, the company’s Board consis-
ted of seven members, four of which were 
nominated by shareholders. The sharehol-
der-nominated representatives are elected 
for two-year rotating terms. In 2019, two  
of the four shareholder-nominated repre-
sentatives were independent from the 
company’s main shareholders.

No dividend will be proposed for the 2019 
fiscal year. In general, the company aims  
to provide its shareholders with the best 
possible returns over time through a com-
bination of share price appreciation and 
dividends, but the financial results in 2019 
do not justify the issuance of dividends  
this year.
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Corporate Governance

Building and maintaining confidence with important target groups 
such as shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, partners and 
the authorities is contingent on an honourable reputation and 
prudent economic development. This calls for the business to be 
managed through the use of proper supervision and control 
mechanisms. Open, accurate and factual communication and fair 
treatment of the company’s shareholders are also important in order 
to promote shareholder values and gain shareholders’ confidence. 
To safeguard these conditions, wherever possible, NHST Media 
Group seeks to follow the majority of the Norwegian Corporate 
Governance Board’s (NUES) recommendations pertaining to 
corporate governance and management.
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Key issues with respect to corporate gover-
nance and management as well as any 
identified deviations from these recommen-
dations are accounted for below. 

Our business
NHST Media Group AS is a holding com-
pany that includes a number of media and 
media-related companies. 

The parent company of the Group itself has 
no operational business and solely provides 
IT, Finance and HR staff functions for all 
associated companies. The operational  
activities are performed by the subsidiaries, 
where the majority are wholly owned.

The Group’s mission statement states that 
NHST “is a free-standing, independent 
media company whose main focus is on 
publishing business periodicals and perfor-
ming associated activities with the primary 
goal of promoting the interests of business.” 
Through independent and critical journa-
lism, the Group strives to fulfil its social 
responsibility as a media company.

The Group has a set of annual strategy 
plans that are updated on a rolling basis,  
an annual budget, a comprehensive set of 
rules governing news reporting and journa-
lism and also provides detailed information 
in its Annual Report on other conditions 
relating to corporate governance and mana-
gement. In addition, the company has 
determined rules of procedure for the 
Board of Directors and the CEO. Please 
refer otherwise to the other reports.

Share capital, financing and  
dividends 
The share capital of NHST Media Group AS 
is NOK 12,879,250. At the end of the year, 
shareholders equity amounted to NOK 57.8 
million, i.e. an equity ratio of 7.5%.

The number of shares of treasury stock on 
the balance sheet remained unchanged in 
2019. The company holds 44,752 shares of 
treasury stock. 

NHST Media Group AS strives to finance 
its operations through a balanced mix of 
debt and shareholders equity. At the end  
of 2019, net financial assets (cash and cash 
equivalents minus interest-bearing debt)  
on the Group’s balance sheet amounted to 
NOK 13 million.

NHST Media Group AS aims to provide 
shareholders with competitive returns in 

the form of appreciation and dividends.  
In evaluating the size of the dividend, the 
Board weighs the following factors: suffici-
ent profitability to justify payment of divi-
dends, compliance with the requirement to 
maintain adequate shareholders’ equity  
and adequate financial resources to support 
future growth. The Board’s defined strategy 
is that over time the dividend should  
represent 30% of the normalised net profits 
after tax. 

There are two board authorisations relating 
to share capital that are normally renewed 
at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) for 
either a period of one year or until the time 
of the next AGM. These were renewed at 
the AGM on 22 May 2019 and remain in 
force until the earlier of the next ordinary 
AGM or 30 June 2020. 

- The Board of Directors of NHST Media 
Group AS has been authorised on behalf of 
the company to acquire the company’s own 
shares up to a total amount of NOK 
1,287,925, corresponding to 10% of the 
company’s current share capital.

- The Board has been authorised to increase 
the company’s share capital by up to NOK 
1,287,925.

No issuance of new shares has occurred in 
2019 or been proposed. 

Fair treatment of shareholders 
and related-party transactions
There is one single share class, and each 
share entitles the shareholder to one vote  
at the AGM. 

In accordance with Section 10-4 of the 
Limited Liability Companies Act, the board 
authorisation for equity issues provides an 
exemption from the shareholders’ pre-emp-
tive right to new shares. 

There are no known shareholder agree-
ments or commercial agreements with  
related parties. 

Unrestricted shares
The company’s shares are unrestricted alt-
hough the Board may prohibit the transfer 
of shares on reasonable grounds. The right 
to withhold consent to any acquisition of 
shares is based on the need for editorial 
and commercial independence. 

This is a deviation from the NUES recom-
mendations.
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Annual General Meeting (AGM)
The company's Annual General Meeting is 
open to all registered shareholders and all 
registered shares carry equal voting rights. 
All shareholders of record, listed in the VPS 
(‘Verdipapirsentralen’) shareholder registry, 
receive an invitation and are entitled to 
submit proposals and cast votes either 
directly or via a proxy. Attending and/or 
voting via the Internet is not possible. 

According to the company’s Articles of 
Association, notice of an AGM must be 
given pursuant to the minimum deadline 
of the Limited Liability Companies Act, no 
later than eight (8) days before the date of 
the AGM. 

The documents to be discussed at the  
AGM, including the recommendations of 
the nominating committee, must be sent to 
shareholders no later than one week before 
the AGM convenes. It is emphasized that 
these documents contain the information 
needed by shareholders to take a position 
on any issues on the agenda. 

According to the Articles of Association, 
the Chairman of the Board shall preside 
over the Annual General Meeting.

The company deviates from the recommen-
dations concerning both the time of notice 
and management of the AGM.

Nominating committee
The company’s Articles of Association do 
not contain any provisions regarding a 
nominating committee. This is a deviation 
from the NUES recommendations.

In practice, the nominating committee is 
selected at the AGM. The committee con-
sists of Anette Olsen and Christian Must. 

Composition and independence 
of governing bodies 
One of the goals of NHST Media Group is 
to have a balanced composition of the 
Board of Directors that takes into account 
skills, experience and appropriate back-
ground for the company’s business, while 
at the same time representing the composi-
tion of the company’s ownership. The 
company’s management is not represented 
on the Board. 

In accordance with the company’s Articles 
of Association, the Board shall consist of 
3-9 members. Normally, up to five shareholder-
nominated representatives are elected. At 

the end of 2019, there were four sharehol-
der-nominated Board representatives. All 
representatives are nominated for  
two-year rotating terms. Over the course  
of 2019, two of the shareholder-nominated 
Board members owned shares in the com-
pany either directly or indirectly. (See Note 
16). At the end of 2019, two of the board 
members nominated by shareholders were 
independent of the main shareholders. 
There are also three employee board  
members nominated by fellow employees.

At the Annual General Meeting, a Chair-
man and Vice-Chairman of the Board are 
elected. None of the Board members have 
significant business relationships with the 
company aside from their status as share-
holders. There are no family ties to the 
CEO or other senior executives. 

The Boards of the largest subsidiaries  
consist of a mix of internal NHST Group 
management members and outside repre-
sentatives.

CEO Hege Yli Melhus Ask is the Chairman 
of the most important subsidiaries. Exter-
nal board members are nominated in order 
to supply the Board with skills in relevant 
areas such as technology, digitalisation and 
business development. 

The tasks of the Board of  
Directors
Eleven Board of Directors meetings were 
held in 2019. 

The Board periodically receives consolida-
ted reports containing financial informa-
tion about the Group and its individual 
companies. In addition, the Board also 
receives management’s comments on cor-
porate developments throughout the year. 

The overall corporate strategy is broadly 
reviewed each year at an extended board 
meeting. Moreover, subsidiaries are revie-
wed on a rotating basis at individual  
board meetings. 

The Board evaluates its work on an annual 
basis and guidelines exist concerning its 
tasks and duties. 

The NHST Media Group AS Board of Direc-
tors has two subcommittees. The compen-
sation committee is chaired by Anette 
Olsen, and the audit committee is chaired 
by Richard-Olav Aa. 

Risk management and internal 
controls
The Group is exposed to various types of 
risk associated with ordinary operations as 
well as strategic risk, primarily in relation 
to the growing digitalisation taking place in 
most of the group’s markets. This has preci-
pitated significant changes to the Group’s 
business models and products. The Group’s 
strategy of focusing on subscription-based 
revenue provides more predictability lon-
ger-term. We try to offset the short-term 
risk associated with fluctuations in the sale 
of ads and services by focusing on multiple 
products and revenue streams so that 
dependency on one source is reduced. 

The Group is exposed to various types of 
risk associated with its ordinary operations. 
This includes financial risk linked to for-
eign currencies, operating risk related to 
running a global organisation and credit 
risk associated with serving a portfolio of 
global customers. 

As a global business with both revenue and 
expenses denominated in multiple curren-
cies, the Group moreover is exposed to 
translation risk. In addition, the Group 
makes investments in currencies that are 
exposed on an ongoing basis to translation 
risk. Translation risk also exists on an 
ongoing basis in relation to accounts 
receivable. This risk is assessed continu-
ously, and hedging transactions are carried 
out as needed. Forex hedges in place as of 
31 December 2019 are described in more 
detail in the notes to the financial state-
ments.

Aside from translation risk, a global custo-
mer portfolio also exposes the Group to  
credit risk. The Group has a relatively 
diverse customer portfolio and constantly 
monitors outstanding receivables, with 
dedicated employees to follow up on collec-
tions and past due accounts.

Management periodically prepares reports 
on operations for the Board, and the 
Group's overall risk profile is discussed by 
the Board at the annual meeting with the 
Group’s auditor.

The majority of the Group’s activities are 
included in a common consolidated acco-
unt system with centralised liquidity mana-
gement.
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Compensation of Board  
members
The compensation of Board members is  
set for the next 12 months each year at the 
Annual General Meeting. 

At the AGM, a director’s fee of NOK 
230,000 was set for the Chairman of the 
Board while the other Board members were 
granted NOK 200,000 each (proportionately 
reduced for any missed Board meetings).  
In addition, NOK 5,000 per meeting was 
paid out to subcommittees and NOK 7,500 
to the subcommittees’ chairmen.

Profit-related directors’ fees are not offered. 

Compensation to senior  
executives
The Group tries to be an attractive destina-
tion for job seekers and seeks to attract 
talented employees with appropriate expe-
rience. Thus, one of the goals of the Group 
is to have a competitive compensation  
system. In addition to a fixed salary, senior 
executives are also offered a result oriented 
bonus system.

The structure of the Group’s compensation 
model is discussed periodically by the 
Board or the compensation committee. 

Information and  
communications
NHST Media Group makes every effort to 
release factual and accurate information to 
outside parties on a quarterly basis and to 
ensure that shareholders are provided 
equal access to such information. Reports 
and announcements are available on 
NHST’s website, www.nhst.no, as well as 
through NOTC’s company notifications. 

The Group does not provide specific guid-
ance about future revenues and profits. 
NHST’s shares are listed on the NOTC List, 
and the share price can be found on a daily 
basis under ‘Børs og marked’ [Stock 
exchange and market] as well as on NOTC’s 
website (www.notc.no).

Take over provisions
The Group’s Articles of Association contain 
no defence mechanisms against a potential 
hostile takeover and the Group has likewise 
not prepared any guidelines with respect to 
how the company would react to a possible 
acquisition offer.

Auditor
The Group uses the same audit firm for all 
subsidiaries in all markets in which the 
company is active and obliged to carry out 
an audit, with the exception of Finland, 
France and the UK. 

The auditor is not utilised as a strategic 
adviser. The Group’s Finance Director 
approves any consulting tasks. 

The auditor is present at the Board meeting 
dealing with the annual financial state-
ments as well as audit committee meetings 
and furthermore has participated in one 
meeting with the Board where manage-
ment was not present.

The auditor’s compensation is reported at 
the Annual General Meeting as well as 
described in the notes to the financial  
statements.





The wellboat Fortune visits the Lerøy Aurora  

aquaculture farm in Lyngenfjord. Rostein AS, which 

owns the Fortune, is one of five leading companies  

in the wellboat industry. The company makes a small  

fortune shipping salmon and removing sea lice on  

behalf of fish farmers. According to the Norwegian 

Aquaculture Analysis published by consulting and  

auditing firm EY, the wellboats set a new record with 

an operating margin of 45 per cent last year.  

Dagens Næringsliv 06/12/2019 

Photo: Lars Åke Andersen
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Addresses

NHST MEDIA GROUP

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
www.nhst.no

 NORWEGIAN PUBLICATIONS

DAGENS NÆRINGSLIV

OSLO 
Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00

DN OFFICES
KRISTIANSAND
Tordenskioldsgate 9
N-4612 Kristiansand, Norway
Tel red +47 38 07 13 00

STAVANGER
Ryfylkegt. 13, PO Box 1538
N-4014 Stavanger, Norway
Tel red +47 51 51 10 10

MORGENBLADET

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 21 00 63 00

 SAAS

MYNEWSDESK

STOCKHOLM
Rosenlundsgatan 40
118 53 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel +46 (0) 8 644 89 50

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 19

LEIPZIG
Hainstrase 20-24
04109 Leipzig
Tel +49 (0) 341/350 587-77

GØTEBORG
Kungsgatan 23
411 19 Gøteborg
Tel +46 31 352 6500 

KØBENHAVN
Nordre Fasanvej 113-115, 3. th.
2000 Fredriksberg 
Tel +45 3812 3630

MALMØ
Stora Varvsgatan 6A
211 19 Malmø
Tel +46 40 608 4700

MÜNCHEN
MesseCampus Riem
81829 München
Tel +49 341 350 587 13

MENTION SOLUTIONS

PARIS
16 Passage Jouffroy
75009 Paris, France
Tel +33 1 76 36 06 97

NEW YORK
Tower 49, WeWork
12 East 49th Street, NY 10017, USA
Tel +1 646 568 9834

 GLOBAL PUBLICATIONS

TRADEWINDS

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway 
Tel +47 22 00 12 00
 
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN,
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150

TRADEWINDS REPRESENTATION
ATHENS
Michalakopoulou 29 
GR 115 28 Athens, Greece 
Tel +30 210 724 5541

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7 
5003 Bergen, Norway 
Tel +47 55 30 22 38

SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04 
Singapore 058416 
Tel +65 6557 0555

STAMFORD
1010 Washington Blvd.  
2nd Floor. 
Stamford, CT 06901. USA
Tel +1 203 324 2994  
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UPSTREAM

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16 
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel red./salg +47 22 00 13 00

UPSTREAM REPRESENTATION
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN,
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150
 
HOUSTON
Two Memorial Plaza, 820 Gessner Suite 775, 
Houston TX. 77024 USA
Tel +1 713 626 3113

SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04
Singapore 058416
Tel 65 6557 0600

STAVANGER
Reidar Berges gate 9
N-4013 Stavanger, Norway
Tel +47 51 85 91 50

INTRAFISH MEDIA

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00

INTRAFISH MEDIA  
REPRESENTATION
OSLO
Chr. Krohgs gate 16, 
0186 Oslo, 
Norway
Tel +47 932 56 140

LONDON
125 Wood Street, 7th Floor, 
London, EC2V 7AN, 
United Kingdom
Tel +44 207 645 2334

PUERTO VARAS
PO BOX 1086 - Puerto Varas – Chile
Tel + 56 65 970123 

SEATTLE
3500 188th Street SW,
Suite 335,
Lynnwood, Washington 98037
Tel: +1 206 282 3474
 
SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road, 
The Riverwalk #04-04, 
Singapore 058416
Tel +65 6557 0300 

FISKERIBLADET

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00

FBFI AVD. HARSTAD
Postboks 103, Sjøgata 7
9405 Harstad
Tel +47 77 05 90 00
 
FBFI AVD. TROMSØ 
Grønnegata 53, 9008 Tromsø
Tel +47 77 66 56 80

RECHARGE

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 17 00
 
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700

EUROPOWER

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00





As the public celebrates Halloween in the  

background, outside Parliament in London,  

anti-Brexit demonstrators protest the United 

Kingdom’s decision to withdraw from the  

European Union. Later, politicians approved  

the country’s exit from the EU.

Dagens Næringsliv 30/10/2019 

Photo: Jeff Gilbert
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